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OUR HIGHLIGHTS  
FOR 2021

14,424 
Nursing Support Calls  

& Emails

548 
Clients & Families 

Supported

16,067
Health Care Professionals 

Accessed our Service 

180
Professional Education & 
Information Sessions Held 

88c 
out of every €1 goes 

directly on support services

€692,946 
Spent on specialised 

equipment

839  
Home Visits 

14,700+
Home Care Hours  

Funded

€2,648,134 
Raised  

“The support has been excellent. It’s true nothing can cure it right now 
but there are lots of things to help make life that bit easier along the 

journey. IMNDA has been outstanding in our experience”



MESSAGE FROM OUR 
CHAIRPERSON 

2021 was a significant year for IMNDA.  It was a year that saw us begin to emerge 
from the pandemic having learned so much and armed with fresh ideas, a 
renewed focus and a more innovative approach to the work we do.
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Without doubt, our 
incredible MND 

community 
made up of 
clients, carers, 
donors and 
supporters, board 

members, staff 
and volunteers 

have been right 
behind us. They have 

been providing that inspiration to help us 
achieve even more on behalf of people 
with MND and their families.  Despite 
all challenges and difficulties, 2021/2 
was without doubt one of our most 
successful years to-date especially in 
terms of fund-raising and finances. The 
extraordinary efforts of our supporters 
also led to 2021 becoming a record year 
for income, generating a significant 
surplus which has allowed us to bring 
forward projects. These projects will help 
us develop as an organisation in building 
on our services and help improve the 
quality of life for our clients affected by 
this devastating disease.  

As I step down as Chair of IMNDA after 
my nine-year tenure, I do so with a great 
sense of sadness and pride.  Sadness 
to be leaving behind the superb people 
with whom I have worked with on our 
Board as well as the great IMNDA staff 

team who carry out their roles with 
such care and compassion.  But I have a 
deep sense of pride in the Association’s 
accomplishments over the years in often 
difficult and challenging times.  I am very 
confident that as we look to the future, 
people living with MND and their families 
will always remain firmly at the heart of 
everything we do.

I know that succession planning, Board 
expertise and commitment are all well-
embedded and provide direction and 
vision for the future – for that I thank all 
my colleagues on the Board most deeply.

To our Chief Executive, our Director of 
Nursing and all the staff – It has been an 
absolute pleasure and honour to work 
with you all over the years and I extend 
my heartfelt thanks to each and every 
one of you.

I wish everyone involved with the 
Association all my very best wishes for 
the future and I truly aspire  for great 
hope and optimism in the fight against 
MND.

Dr Declan Mac Daid
Chairman
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MESSAGE FROM  
OUR CEO 
As we look back on the year of 2021, the words “thank you” seem to be the most 

appropriate opening to our Annual Report.

Thank you to all 
our clients living 

with MND, 
carers and 
supporters.  
Your 
resilience 
during the 
difficult 
times 

of Covid 
19 for a 

second year 
has been truly 

inspirational.  We 
are so appreciative to 

so many who, despite great physical 
and mental challenges have adapted to 
operating remotely so incredibly well.  
From receiving support by phone and 
email, accepting nurse visits with full 
PPE as well as attending our conference 
by Zoom, it truly has been another year 
of challenge for our community. Thank 
you for all your efforts during what was 
without doubt, another difficult year.

A huge thank you to our loyal and 
committed community fundraisers 
right across the country who, despite 
a global pandemic exceeded all 
expectations in raising a staggering 
€777,697 in 2021, through many 
and varied community fundraising 
events.  As you will see from this 

report, we have had a very solid year 
from a financial perspective and our 
supporters have rallied around us and 
the important work that we strive to 
do with some incredible fundraising, 
highlighted later in the Report.  Overall, 
our 2021 income increased to the level 
achieved in 2019 prior to the start of 
the pandemic.  Almost 30% of our 
income generated was attributable to 
these incredible supporters, mostly 
friends and families of those affected 
by MND and to them we offer our 
heartfelt thanks for this incredible 
contribution and a true testament to 
their dedication, skills and commitment.

Great credit goes to our own 
Fundraising team who over the course 
of the pandemic learned new skills and 
adapted to the “new world” with great 
tenacity.  From upskilling as well as 
“thinking outside the box”, our small 
team successfully raised over €555,000 
through our annual campaigns with our 
“Drink Tea for MND” alone achieving an 
incredible €206,000.   Again, a huge 
thanks to everyone who supported 
these campaigns and without doubt tea 
drinking is still a firm favourite  pastime 
for our MND community.

During 2021, we invested over €1.7 
million in providing services to our 
clients.  Expenditure for specialist 



equipment and communication aids 
was the highest, followed by nursing 
support and home care grants. We 
continue to invest our resources in 
ways that try to meet the needs of 
our clients in very practical ways.  We 
spent €382,000 on our very important 
home care grants which provides much 
needed homecare over and above that 
provided by the HSE.  We know how 
important this grant is for families and 
we undertook to increase our level 
of payment in 2022 to the level we 
provided to our families before the 
pandemic.

Recognising that today’s research could 
be tomorrow’s treatment and cures, 
the IMNDA continues to invest in key 
research projects, both nationally and 
internationally on an annual basis. In 
2021, we committed €50,000 to Project 
Tricals, a research and treatment 
project to cure ALS/MND. The aim of 
this project is to develop a precision 
medicine-based approach towards new 
treatments for MND. It is an exciting 
project which involves ALS/MND 
centres in Ireland, led by Professor 
Orla Hardiman and her team and in 
partnership with teams in Holland, the 
UK, France, Belgium, and Italy. The 
IMNDA also part funded a Research 
Fellow post in Trinity College Dublin as 
continued support for their research.

Having completed an overall strategic 
review of the Association and its 
services, the IMNDA launched its new 
five-year strategic plan in 2021. Over 
the next five years, the Association 
aims to protect and maintain existing 
services and activities, while also 
expanding and developing in new 
directions to ensure people living with 
MND and their families continue to 

benefit from our work in a practical and 
meaningful way.

We thank everyone who has helped 
us throughout 2021, our clients and 
families who remain at the heart of 
what we do, our supporters and donors 
who contribute so generously to make 
our work possible, our dedicated Board 
members who give their time and skills 
so willingly and our own small IMNDA 
team who ensure that we remain close 
to our core values. 

Lillian McGovern 
CEO
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A huge thank you to our loyal and 
committed community fundraisers 
right across the country who, despite 
a global pandemic exceeded all 
expectations in raising a staggering 
e777,697 in 2021, through many 
and varied community fundraising 
events.



Motor Neurone Disease (MND) is a 
progressive neurological condition that 
attacks the motor neurones, or nerves, 
in the brain and spinal cord. This means 
messages gradually stop reaching 
muscles, which leads to weakness and 
wasting.  

MND affects the everyday things we 
take for granted. It can affect how you 
walk, talk, eat, drink and even breathe. 
MND strikes people of all ages and there 
is currently no cure.  

The Irish Motor Neurone Disease 
Association (IMNDA) is the primary 
care and support organisation for 
people living with MND, their families, 
caregivers and friends.  

There are over 400 people living with 
MND in Ireland. 

Our key services include: 

•  Home visiting by our four MND Nurses   

•  Financial assistance towards home care   

•  Providing specialist medical equipment 
free of charge to our service users 

•  Supporting research into the causes 
and treatments of MND 

•  Freefone Helpline & Information 
service for our members

I do not know what would have 
become of us without the IMNDA. 
It became part of the family. They 
are so efficient. I could send an 
email one day, receive a reply 
that afternoon and the piece of 
equipment would arrive on the 
following day.
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SUMMARY OF PURPOSE
About IMNDA

The Irish Motor Neurone Disease Association (IMNDA) was established 
on the 1st May 1985 by a small group of friends, relatives and caregivers 
of people with Motor Neurone Disease.  
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Mission Statement

Our Vision
A World Free of MND 

Our Mission
To support people with motor neurone 
disease (MND), their families and 
carers through advocacy, home and 
professional support 

Our Values
•  To enable people with MND to live as 

active independent citizens 

•  To empower people with MND to 
make informed decisions 

•  To put people with MND at the heart 
of our focus 

•  To ensure that people with MND have 
a voice by advocating on their behalf 

•  To value everyone who contributes to 
our association 

•  To value everyone who works for our 
association 

Key Objectives
•  To encourage and promote the best 

methods of care, education, research 
and treatment for people living with 
MND throughout Ireland. 

•  To establish and promote models 
of good practice in the delivery of 
specialised services to people living 
with MND, their families and carers.  

•  To raise awareness of Motor Neurone 
Disease in the wider community. 
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MND is known as the 1000-day disease. During these 1000 days 
someone with MND gradually loses control of their limbs ultimately 
resulting in a loss of independence. Everyday things we take for 
granted like walking, talking and eating may become virtually 
impossible.

The journey with MND is a series of losses. The IMNDA aims to alleviate 
frustration, fear and anxiety that is often felt by the whole family.

1,000 DAY DISEASE

MND affects the nerves that control movement so 
muscles no longer work – it does not usually affect 
the senses such as sight, sound, feeling etc

Around 35% of people will experience mild 
cognitive change causing difficulties with 
planning, decision-making and language

A further 15% will experience a form of dementia 
resulting in more pronounced behavioural changes 

MND does not discriminate – it affects 
people of all ages from all walks of life

MND is a rapidly progressing 
disease that affects the brain & 
the spinal cord

MND is the PITs – progressive, 
incurable, and terminal

1 person dies every 3 days

The association is just brilliant, and we know that first-hand. The 
cruelty of this disease is just awful, but IMNDA make life a lot easier
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IMNDA are a wonderful organisation  
that helps sufferers and family dealing 
with MND

Our services are immediate and free of 
charge. The IMNDA is a small organisation 
achieving big things in the fight against 
MND. Donations to the IMNDA allow us to 
provide our pivotal and specialist services. 
Without fundraising and donations, we 
would not be here. 

85% of our income comes from the 
generosity of the general public

Every bucket shook, every race ran, every 
Christmas card bought, every donation 
sent in, every table quiz held ensures a 
person who needs help gets it regardless 
of where they live in Ireland and their 
financial situation.

The IMNDA’s resources are at an all-time 
high. At any one time approximately 
400 people have MND in Ireland. That 
is 400 personal battles. 400 shell 
shocked families coming to terms with 
the distressing symptoms of MND. 400 
families who would have nowhere else to 
turn without the IMNDA.

Where the money goes

In 2021 the IMNDA spent the monies raised 
in the following way:

•  88% went directly towards the services 
we provide to families living with MND

•  12% relates to the costs of raising funds 
to ensure we always have a steady 
income

•  88 cent of every euro raised goes 
directly towards services

Together we make a real difference –  
MND is relentless and so are we

Without your consistent support, IMNDA 
would not be able to continue offering 
financial, emotional, and practical support 
to those who so desperately need it. 

THE IMNDA IS HERE  
TO HELP

We consistently provide support and care to over 400 people with 
Motor Neurone Disease at any one time. Everybody’s requirements 
vary but we are here regardless of when and how we are needed.
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2021, was really a rather exceptional year. The total income amounted to Gotham (OTF) 
2,648,134 (2020 Gotham (OTF) 2,281,165), which was a 16% increase on 2020. This was a 
significant success given many of our fundraising events were forced to cancel due to the 
continuing pandemic. This was all down to the fantastic and continued backing that we 
receive from our donors. 

Community events taken on by our amazing MND community was considerably higher than 
in 2020. As restrictions eased, more outdoor events took place and our fundraisers really 
hit the ground running. The increase in income is down to the dedication, commitment, and 
loyalty of our supporters. Thank you everyone!

2021 total expenditure was €2,380,121. 88% was charitable activities and 12% was the cost 
of raising funds.

22% Home Care

40% Specialist Medical Equipment

14% Client Support Costs

6% Research

18% Nursing Services

2021 FINANCES 
TOTAL INCOME 

EXPENDITURE 

2021 Income: €2,648,134 

HOW MONEY
WAS RAISED

HOW MONEY 
WAS SPENT

29%

21%

22%

14%

18%

6%

40%

8%

7%
7%

HOW MONEY
WAS RAISED

HOW MONEY 
WAS SPENT

29%

21%

22%

14%

18%

6%

40%

8%

7%
7%

29% Community Events

21% IMNDA organised campaigns 

8% Legacy Gifts

7% Corporate Donations 

7% Memory Donations

2021 Expenditure: €2,380,121



In 2021, the IMNDA provided services to 548 people across Ireland. There were 139 new 
registrations to our services and very sadly we lost 177 people to MND during 2021.

ACHIEVEMENTS & PERFORMANCE –  
THE IMPACT OF YOUR SUPPORT
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County Male Female Total
Carlow 2 1 3
Cavan 7 11 18
Clare 7 4 11
Cork 36 24 60
Donegal 11 11 22
Dublin 86 60 146
Galway 10 7 17
Kerry 14 8 22
Kildare 12 14 26
Kilkenny 6 3 9
Laois 6 3 9
Leitrim 3 2 5
Limerick 10 9 19
Longford 3 3 6
Louth 9 4 13
Mayo 15 9 24
Meath 20 8 20
Monaghan 4 2 6
Offaly 7 2 9
Roscommon 4 4 8
Sligo 6 4 10
Tipperary 12 6 18
Waterford 5 5 10
Westmeath 10 4 14
Wexford 12 9 21
Wicklow 13 9 22



My MND Nurse, is available when I get 
scared or need to know something, 
answering questions and giving advice 
and guidance. She was there from the 
start and she will be there until the end

Continuity of care is crucial when it 
comes to managing a complex condition 
such as Motor Neurone Disease. Our 
MND specialist nurses are central to 
this service. They act as a link between 
our clients and families and community 
healthcare professionals, consultant 
neurologists and the services team 
in IMNDA. There is no one size fits all 
when it comes to MND so having our 
nurses out in the community, helping 
to co-ordinate care for our clients is 
paramount. They help our clients and 
carers navigate their way through what is 
a very complex disease. 

For me, what I hear is how amazing your 
nurses are. Kind, gentle, supportive but 
also practical in a compassionate way.

Upon registering with the IMNDA a 
client will receive a first contact call from 
one of our nurses within seven working 
days and arrange a first home visit. This 
nurse will then be their main point of 
contact for the duration of their illness. 
Our nurses provided this service to 548 
clients during 2021.

With Covid still prevalent in 2021 joint 
working arrangements with the team at 
Beaumont, Cork and Galway continued 

successfully during the year. Many home 
visits and hospital clinics were replaced 
with virtual and telephone consultations 
to protect patients and their families. The 
IMNDA nurses played an integral role in 
maintaining contact with clients, both in 
person when possible and through virtual 
means.

•  The IMNDA employees 4 full time 
qualified MND nurses 

•  In 2021 our 4 nurses carried out 839 
home visits

•  They engaged virtually with our 
families through 14,424 calls and 
emails

•  They educated Health Care 
Professionals so the best care can 
be provided in their local community 
and in 2020 attended 180 community 
meetings

•  The IMNDA receives no state or HSE 
funding towards the nursing service, it 
is funded entirely by public donations 
and fundraising activities.

NURSING SERVICE

We ensure that somebody with MND and their family always has 
an expert MND nurse to turn to for practical advice and comfort. 
Having a nurse to talk to can be the difference between coping 

and not coping at all.
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The IMNDA is really good about giving 
you tools, advice and equipment to 
help you cope with the disease. Electric 
wheelchairs, hoists, eye gaze for the 
computer and even an arm attached to 
the table so you can feed yourself rather 
than having somebody feed you, these all 
help to improve your quality of life and  
keep you as independent as possible for 
as long as possible.

Ensuring people living with MND remain 
in their own homes for as long as 
possible is one of our main priorities. 
Therefore, having the right equipment, 
at the right time, is crucial. A powered 
wheelchair can give someone a new 
lease of life, allowing them to keep 
their independence. A communication 
aid allows them to still be part of the 
conversation. A stair lift means they 
can access their entire house and not 
be confined to one room or one floor. A 
panic alarm system gives family members 
some peace of mind. 

All simple things that most of us take 
for granted. Waiting for equipment 
is not an option when you have a 
progressive conditon like MND. 

•  In 2021 the IMNDA spent nearly 
€692,946 on the provision, 
storage, distribution, cleaning and 
maintenance of specialised aids and 
appliances for people with MND.

During the year 317 new pieces of 
equipment were purchased such as  
Communication aids, Comfort chairs and 
Power Wheelchairs most requested by 
Occupational Therapists for clients.
Communication aids continue to be 
the lifeline for many of our clients 
with 28 iPads and 70 other types of 
communication technology, including 
eye gaze equipment, voice recorders and 
amplifiers. We also bought 17 powered 
wheelchairs ranging in cost from €8k 
to €16k per item and invested in 10 new 
motorised exercise machines - to name 
but a few.

No one with MND should be unable to 
communicate. If the IMNDA can give an 
iPad, they can give some quality of life, 
they can give a voice.                                                                                 

EQUIPMENT

We supply specialised equipment as and when it is required and as 
quickly as possible. 
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The IMNDA provides financial assistance towards extra home care hours when there is a 
shortfall in what is needed versus what the HSE can provide.

•  In 2021 the IMNDA spent €382,413 on home care hours. 

•  On average €26 will pay for one hour of home care

HOME CARE GRANT

We support carergivers who spend their days clothing, feeding and 
bathing their loved one. They need a break. Financial assistance 
towards home care gives caregivers 5 hours a week to take some 

time for themselves.
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MND teaches you to live with a constant 
stream of losses; you are constantly 
grieving your old self, your old abilities, 
and your independence. The IMNDA 
immediately provided me with a 
counsellor to provide emotional support. 
My counsellor had previous experience 
with MND patients so was well equipped 
for my shock, fear & fragility. At every 
stage of the way the IMNDA have been 
there providing me with the support I’ve 
needed

Finding ways to cope following the 
diagnosis of a fatal illness such as Motor 
Neurone Disease can be incredibly 
difficult. It has a huge impact on the entire 
family and can be a heavy weight to 
bear. Everyone will process the diagnosis 
differently and at different stages of their 

journey. Having 
access to a qualified 
counsellor can often be a great source 
of comfort. So, for those who do want to 
talk, the IMNDA provides funding towards 
counselling sessions for registered clients 
and one family member. This funding 
includes bereavement counselling.

•  The IMNDA provides funding for 
counselling sessions to try to alleviate 
feelings of isolation

•  €16,610 was spent on counselling in 
2021 which is funded solely through 
donations and fundrasing activities 

•  On average €60 funds one counselling 
session

COUNSELLING

We fund counselling sessions for 
an MND sufferer or their loved 
one.  A diagnosis of MND is a 

shattering blow and someone affected 
often needs the opportunity to vent.



It gives families affected by MND a 
chance to spend time with other families 
who are on the same journey. It also 
gives them greater insights into the latest 
developments in MND and families hear 
of developments within the Association.

From an organisational point of view, it 
provides us with a platform to connect 
with our service users on a deeper more 
personal level, which in turn helps us 
shape and improve our service offering.

Unfortunately, for the second year we 
were not able to gather in 2021 as normal 
so our AGM and annual conference 
moved online and was hosted via zoom. 
The format remained the same and the 
conference was extremely well attended. 
Of note, was the increased attendance 
by healthcare professionals who were 
facilitated in joining through the use 
of technology. Moving forward, IMNDA 
plans to continue to make our annual 

conference available through this method 
as increased way of maintaining contact 
with the many healthcare professionals 
who have expressed an interest in 
attending in this way.

Presentations on the day included 
an update on current national and 
international research by Professor 
Orla Hardiman, an overview on current 
research titled “People need to know 
they are not alone” by Dr Ailin O’Dea. 
Further presentations were made by 
professionals working in the area of MND 
on cognitive and behavioural changes in 
MND as well as update on developments 
with voice banking.

A formal presentation of appreciation 
was made to those clients and families 
who went above and beyond in 
their contribution to the work of the 
Association during the year – an annual 
tradition at this key event.

IMNDA CONFERENCE & 
WEEKEND

Every year we combine our AGM and conference with a very special 
Patient and Carer weekend away. This has proved to be very beneficial 
for both clients and families, as well as everyone in the IMNDA.
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•  In 2021, IMNDA committed €50k per 
annum to Project TRICALS, a research 
and treatment project to cure ALS/
MND. 

•  The IMNDA also part funds a Research 
Fellow post in Trinity College Dublin 
€50k per annum.

The aim of all projects funded through 
the IMNDA is to improve the lives of 
people living with MND and their families. 
Our vision remains a world free of MND 
and the only way that this vision can 
be realised is through progress in MND 
research. We are only able to fund this 
research because of the money raised 
nationally by our loyal supporters.

MND RESEARCH

Our MND Community needs hope. Recognising that today’s research 
could be tomorrow’s treatment and cures, the IMNDA continues to 
invest in key research projects on an annual basis.
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The IMNDA has a governing Board of 
Directors, all of whom are non-executive. 
The Board each volunteer their time and 
expertise to bring a combined unique 
knowledge and skillset to enable our 
mission of supporting those living with 
Motor Neurone Disease in Ireland. The 
IMNDA was founded under a Memorandum 

of Association, which established the 
objects and powers of the charitable 
company and is now governed under 
its Constitution in accordance with the 
Companies Act 2014. The Directors and 
Company Secretary who served during the 
year did not have a beneficial interest in 
the IMNDA.

The Board comprises of experienced 
members drawn from a variety of 
sectors, including nursing, marketing, 
communications, HR and finance whose 
skills and expertise help the charity to 
maximise its potential and who steer 
the executive and management team in 
matters of governance and strategy.

The Board is also responsible for 
appointing the Chief Executive Officer 
(CEO) and setting pay rates for the CEO 
and senior staff. In line with the governing 
documents and best practice, none of our 
Board members received remuneration 
for their services. Members of the Board 
may serve a maximum of three ‘three-year 
terms’. This Board rotation ensures that 
new members are introduced to provide 
fresh perspectives and skills to the Board.

The Management team has been led by 
Lillian McGovern since June 2021 (Roisin 
Duffy resigned in May 2021). The team 
consists of non-clinical management and 
professional staff working alongside a 

team of registered nurses who are based 
regionally. The nursing team delivers the 
IMNDA outreach community service as 
well as working as part of the overall multi-
disciplinary team at each of the MND 
centers at Beaumont, Cork and Galway.

The CEO and senior management team 
oversee the day-to-day decision making 
and the Board is responsible for appraising 
and monitoring the work of the CEO. 
The CEO is answerable to the Board 
through the Chairperson and does not 
make decisions outside the parameters 
established by the Board. At each Board 
meeting the CEO’s report gives an 
overview of finances, operations, HR and 
staffing, fundraising, services and strategy 
implementation. Expenditure is in line 
with agreed annual budgets and items of 
expenditure outside these are brought 
to the Board for their approval. Likewise, 
any large items of expenditure by way of 
capital spend is brought to the Board’s 
attention for their approval.

ORGANISATION & 
GOVERNANCE
ROLE OF BOARD

APPOINTMENT & TENURE OF THE BOARD
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The Board are committed 
to maintaining the highest 
standards of corporate 
governance and has taken 
action to ensure we are fully 
compliant with the principles 
outlined in the Charities 
Governance Code as issued by 
the Charities Regulator of Ireland.

The Board began a full review of the 
Charities Governance Code in 2020 
and is working towards maintaining its 
Triple Lock membership from the Charities 
Institute Ireland, which demonstrates 
commitment to best practice in all aspects 
of good governance, transparency and 
fundraising. This review is expected to be 
complete in 2022.

Looking to the Future. Having completed an overall strategic review of the IMNDA and its 
services, we launched a new five-year strategic plan in 2021.

Over the next five years, we aim to protect and maintain existing services and activities, 
while also expanding and developing in new directions to ensure people living with MND 
and their families continue to benefit from our work.

GOVERNANCE 
STANDARDS

FUTURE PLANS



During 2021 the Board and CEO engaged 
in an overall staffing structural review to 
ensure that the IMNDA was adequately 
resourced to successfully implement the 
strategic plan over the coming years. 
Specifically, the Board committed to:

•  The appointment of a Director of 
Nursing and Patient Services to oversee 
the nursing and client services 

•  The appointment of a dedicated 
resource to develop the corporate 
fundraising strategy for the Association

•  The development of the 
Communications team to strengthen 
the advocacy role in ensuring that 
patients’ needs are 
highlighted 
and met
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KEY OBJECTIVES
FOUR KEY STRATEGIC PRIORITIES FORM 
THE FRAMEWORK FOR THIS PLAN:

Strategic Priority 1 

Provide practical client and caregiver-centered support on both a national and local 
level to ensure people affected by MND receive the best possible standard of care.

Strategic Priority 2 

Strengthen communications with all key stakeholder groups, especially families 
directly affected by MND, and enhance public awareness of the impact of MND 
through advocacy.

Strategic Priority 3 

Support, fund and communicate research into causes, management and treatment 
of MND amongst all key stakeholders including families affected by MND and the 
wider healthcare community.

Strategic Priority 4 

Invest in long term sustainable income streams to continue to operate a stable, 
transparent, and accountable organisation, meeting best practice standards 
amongst the charity sector in Ireland.
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Lillian McGovern  
CEO 

Paula McNally-Krenn   
Services Co-ordinator  

Tracy Hutchin   
Services Manager 

Lisa McNally    
Services Administrator 

Johanna McGrath   
Information & Support Officer 

Katie Kinsella    
MND Nurse 

TEAM IMNDA
WE ARE HERE TO MAKE SURE NO-ONE 
HAS TO FACE MND ALONE

MND is a life-changing illness and we are dedicated to making each change as smooth as 
possible for all those directly or indirectly living with it. To do this, it takes a committed 
team of professionals, people who know intimately what our MND community are going 
through. Our small team of 14 are there to make sure that every call, text, email is answered. 
We are there every step of the journey. Whether you are from Donegal or Dublin, Cavan or 

Cork – we are here to support you.

Meet our Staff



Fidelma Rutledge    
MND Nurse 

Maria Hill   
Accountant  

Louise Hennessy     
MND Nurse 

Gemma Watts   
National Development Manager  

Derbhla Wynne   
PR & Communications Executive  

Maternity Cover

Eithne Cawley    
MND Nurse 

Jackie Martin    
Fundraising Executive 

Maeve Leahy   
PR & Communications 

Executive 
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They are amazing people and anyone or their families who had to or at present have 
to deal with a MND diagnosis are lucky to have these ladies helping through each step

Until there is a cure, there is care
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The directors present their Directors' Annual Report, combining the Directors' Report and Trustees' Report, and the 
audited financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2021. 
   
Legal and Administrative Information  
The principal activity of the organisation is that of a charity. 
   
Board of Directors Executive Management Team 
Dr Declan MacDaid (Chairperson) Roisin Duffy (CEO, Resigned May 2021) 
Alison Gray (Treasurer) Lillian McGovern (CEO, from June 2021) 
Katie Hallissey (Secretary) Maria Hill (Head of Finance) 
Jonathan Healy Tracy Hutchin (Head of Services) 
Bernie Connolly Gemma Watts (Head of Fundraising) 
Angela Hogan (Resigned February 2022)  
Norman Hughes  
Lillian McGovern (Resigned March 2021)  
Joseph Ritchie (Appointed February 2022)  
Gillian Lynch (Appointed February 2022)  
Lisa Doherty (Appointed February 2022)  
  
Committees of the Board   
Strategy Committee Finance Committee Fundraising Committee 
Jonathan Healy Dr Declan MacDaid Norman Hughes 
Lillian McGovern Alison Gray Lillian McGovern 
 Lillian McGovern Jonathan Healy 
 Maria Hill  
   
Secretary and Registered Office Bankers  
Katie Hallissey AIB  
Ground Floor, Marshalsea Court 126/128 College Green  
22/23 Merchant’s Quay Dublin 2  
Dublin 8   
   
Auditors   
CrowleysDFK Unlimited Company   
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Audit Firm  
16/17 College Green   
Dublin 2   
   
Solicitors Charity Regulator Number Company Registration Number 
Patrick F O'Reilly & Co Solicitors RCN 20021009 112855 
9-10 South Great George's Street Charity Number  
Dublin 2 CHY8510  
   
Board and Governance 
The principal activity of the company is that of a charity with a governing Board of Directors all of whom are 
non-executive.  The Board each volunteer their time and expertise to bring a combined unique knowledge and 
skillset to support IMNDA achieve its mission of supporting those living with Motor Neurone Disease in Ireland. The 
charity was established under a Memorandum of Association, which established the objects and powers of the 
charitable company and is now governed under its Constitution in accordance with the Companies Act 2014. The 
Directors and Company Secretary who served during the year did not have a beneficial interest in the Company. 
 
The Board comprises of experienced members drawn from a variety of sectors, including nursing, marketing, 
communications, HR and finance whose skills and expertise help the charity to maximise its potential and who steer 
the Executive and management team in matters of governance, strategy, and legal. 
 
The Board is also responsible for appointing the Chief Executive officer (CEO) and setting pay rates for the CEO and 
senior staff.  In line with the governing documents and best practice, none of our Board members received 
remuneration for their services.  Members of the Board may serve a maximum of three three-year terms. This Board 
rotation ensures that new members are introduced to provide fresh perspectives and skills to the Board. 
 
The Management team has been led by Lillian McGovern since June 2021 (Roisin Duffy resigned in May 2021). The 
team consists of non-clinical management and professional staff working alongside a team of registered nurses who 
are based regionally.  The nursing team delivers the IMNDA outreach community service as well as working as part 
of the overall multi-disciplinary team at each of the MND centres at Beaumont, Cork and Galway. 
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The Board has delegated day to day decision making to the CEO and senior management team and the Board is 
responsible for appraising and monitoring the work of the CEO.  The CEO is answerable to the Board through the 
Chairperson and does not make decisions outside the parameters established by the Board.  At each Board meeting 
the CEO report gives an overview of finances, operations, HR and staffing, fundraising, services and strategy 
implementation. Expenditure is in line with agreed annual budgets and items of expenditure outside these are 
brought to the Board for their approval.  Likewise, any large items of expenditure by way of capital spend is brought 
to the Board’s attention for their approval. 
   
Date of Board Meetings Board Member Number of Meetings Attended 
25th February Dr Declan MacDaid 6 
31st March Alison Gray 6 
21st April Jonathan Healy 6 
30th June Bernie Connolly 6 
3rd November Norman Hughes 6 
11th November Angela Hogan 6 
 Katie Hallissey 4 
 Lillian McGovern 1 (Resigned March) 
   
The Board is committed to maintaining the highest standards of corporate governance and has taken action to 
ensure that the Association is fully compliant with the principles outlined in the Charities Governance Code as issued 
by the Charities Regulator of Ireland. 
 
The Board began a full review of the Charities Governance Code in 2020 and is working towards maintaining its 
Triple Lock membership from the Charities Institute Ireland, which demonstrates commitment to best practice in all 
aspects of good governance, transparency, and fundraising. This review is expected to be complete in 2022. 
 

 
Background 
The Irish Motor Neurone Disease Association (IMNDA) is the national primary support organisation for people living 
with Motor Neurone Disease (MND), their carers and families. 
 
In 2021, more than 550 people with MND access its vital services each year. MND is a progressive neurological 
condition that attacks the motor neurones, or nerves, in the brain and spinal cord. As a result, messages gradually 
stop reaching muscles, which in turn leads to muscle weakness and wasting. MND can affect how you walk, talk, eat, 
drink, and breathe. However, not all symptoms necessarily affect everyone in the same manner, and it is unlikely they 
will all develop at the same time, or in any specific order. 
 
As a result, the IMNDA tailors its care pathways, under the guidance of its nursing team and other community-based 
healthcare professionals, to suit each individual's rapidly changing needs. MND is often referred to as the 1,000-day 
disease as most people sadly pass away within 1,000 days of symptom onset. Current statistics show that one 
person is diagnosed with MND in Ireland every three days. Sadly, one person also dies from MND every three days. 
 
Funds raised through the Association go to support its principal activities and services. Key services provided to 
clients and families free of charge in 2021 include: 
-Home visits by our 4 MND outreach nurses 
-Financial assistance towards home care hours 
-Provision of specialist medical equipment on loan directly into homes 
-Funding towards counselling and holistic therapies 
-Freephone information, support, and advocacy service for clients 
-Funding towards research into the causes and treatments of MND 
 
The Association is committed to providing every person living with MND in Ireland with the core supports needed to 
enable them to live as active independent citizens in their community, while living at home with their loved ones. 
 
Objectives and Activities: Our Vision is a World Free of MND 
 
Our Mission 
To support people living with motor neurone disease (MND), their families and carers through advocacy, home, and 
professional support. 
 
Our Values 
•To enable people with MND to live as active independent citizens. 
•To empower people with MND to make informed decisions. 
•To put people with MND at the heart of our focus. 
•To ensure that people with MND have a voice by advocating on their behalf. 
•To value everyone who contributes to our association. 
•To value everyone who works for our association. 
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Accounting Records 
The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities, under section 281 to section 285 of the Companies Act 2014, to 
keep adequate accounting records for the company. 
 
In order to secure compliance with the requirements of the Act, the finance function has been adequately resourced 
by means of employing a qualified accountant reporting directly to the CEO and the Finance Committee. 
 
The accounting records of the company are kept at the registered office and principal place of business at Unit 3, 
Ground Floor, Marshalsea Court, 22/23 Merchant's Quay, Dublin 8. 
   
Principal Risks and Uncertainties 
In common with all organisations set up on a non-profit / charitable basis, the company has uncertain income streams 
coupled with the increasing wages/supplies costs that face all companies in Ireland. The Directors are satisfied that 
the risks facing the organisation have been identified and managed through the ongoing maintenance of the Risk 
Register and the annual 'Risk Assessment Review'. 
 
2021 Financial Review 
Total Income 
In 2021 total income for the year amounted to €2,648,134 (2020 €2,281,165) representing an increase of €366,969 or 
16% increase on the prior year. This result was viewed as a significant success in view of the enforced cancellation 
of fundraising events due to the continuing pandemic and associated anticipated impacts on the Association’s 
finances. 2021 income is almost equivalent to 2019 level prior to the pandemic. 
 

 
 
 
 
The increased income and surplus of €268,013 was largely attributable to the fact that the Association reacted 
quickly to the challenges of the pandemic in ensuring a mix of fundraising initiatives to include both digital and 
in-person events. As restrictions eased there was a significant increase in outdoor fundraising activities. 
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29% (2020 16%) of total income came from community organised events.   
21% (2020 18%) of total income came from IMNDA organised campaigns 
8% (2020 10%) of total income came from wills/bequests. 
7% (2020 7%) of total income came from corporate donations 
7% (2020 4%) of total income came from memory donations.   
   
Of particular note was the success of each of the IMNDA in-house fundraising campaigns throughout the year.   
 
These included: 
Sponsored Silence/Voice 4 MND:        €156,686 
Drink Tea for MND:                      €206,932 
Walk While You Can:                    €146,775 
Abseiling event in Smithfield:              €44,669 
 
 

These campaigns raised a significant higher level of income than in the previous year with an overall increase of 
€158,000. 
 
Our community fundraising events were particularly successful in 2021. This is the income raised by our clients, their 
families and other supporters who organise fundraising events on our behalf. It includes running events such as 
community walks, golf classics, sponsored swims and climbs to mention just a few.  These events returned to almost 
pre-Covid levels in 2021 and raised €777,697. This success was a huge surprise but completely attributable to the 
dedication, skill and loyalty of our supporters. 
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Statutory Incomes: 15% (2020 31%) of total IMNDA income came from Statutory funders including tax refunds. 
 
•HSE GAA Grant 
•HSE Lottery Grants for local Equipment and Respite Services 
•A Government employment wage subsidy scheme in the first couple of months of the year (EWSS). 
 

 
 
The decrease in statutory grants in 2021 of €306,241 was principally due receiving Stability grant funding from Pobal 
in 2020.  From the second quarter in 2021 the Association’s Income levels stabilised and did not decrease by the 
required 25% to further receive this grant in 2021. Similarly, our unexpected increased income also resulted in us 
withdrawing from the Employment Wage Subsidy Scheme in quarter 2 of 2021.     
 
To develop a new funding model and to ensure sustainability and support future growth the Board have agreed to 
invest in funds to develop an overall Corporate Partnership strategy.  A key part of this strategy is the investment in 
and development of Corporate Partnership role within the Fundraising team as well as the enhancement of a regional 
support structure for community fundraising. 
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Expenditure
Total expenditure was €2,380,121 (2020 €2,276,289). 88% (2020 89%) is charitable activities and 12% (2020 11%) is 
on the cost of raising funds.  

In 2021 the total expenditure on charitable activities (excluding support costs) was €1,735,552 (2020 €1,735,532).

Costs of charitable activities:
Overall breakdown of monies spent on charitable activities (including direct salaries but excluding support costs) 
during 2021 was:

31/12/2021 31/12/2020
Home Care €382,413 €511,027
Specialist Medical Equipment €692,946 €649,823
Client Support Costs €242,832 €186,655
Research €101,441 €100,000
Nursing Services €315,920 €288,026

Total direct costs €1,735,552 €1,735,532

Home care costs are grants given to our clients for home care assistance.  This cost decreased in 2021 largely due 
to a planned decrease in home care support which was a decision taken in 2020 as a result of a decrease in demand 
due to the pandemic.  These grants have been increased again in 2022.

Specialist medical equipment is the cost of purchasing, depreciation, maintenance, repair, warehousing, 
decontamination, delivery, and collection of equipment provided to our clients.  This cost was higher by €43,122 in 
2021 principally due to the purchase of smaller items of equipment.  In 2021 there was a notable increase in the 
demand for iPads as communication aids for our clients.  

Client support costs include the direct salary costs of the services team, counselling grants, the CEO compassionate 
fund, the costs of the newsletters, client advocacy and information costs.   The Association made a significant spend 
of €31,612 on improving Communications with an expenditure on the production of two Newsletters for the MND 
community throughout the year.  We also note that the Association saved €26,102 on salaries during 2020 due to a 
combination of Government Wages Subsidy schemes and the inability to replace staff during the pandemic.
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Nursing services are the direct costs of Nursing salaries, the costs to maintain their transport, phones etc.  The cost 
was reduced in 2020 due to a combination of Government Wages Subsidy Schemes and the reduction in travel to 
clients during lockdowns.   
 
Costs of raising funds:  This were €278,145 (2020 €250,460) and were managed very tightly in general as they 
have done in previous years.   
 
Expenditure on raising funds includes all the costs incurred in seeking donations, grants and legacies.   
 
Included are our direct salary costs, the costs of our support of community fundraising events, receipting donations, 
purchasing merchandise, radio adverts etc. This was viewed as an important means of retaining vital communication 
with our clients during a very isolating period. 
 
Support Costs: From note 6 in these financial statements you will see that we added support costs to our cost of 
charitable activities and costs of raising funds when producing our Statement of Financial Activities.  These were 
charged depending on the number of people working at each activity.   
 
Such costs could include an appropriate proportion of support staff salaries (management and finance), governance 
costs (audit and legal costs), overhead costs (rent, light and heat, etc), administration (Bank charges, iDonate 
charges, Stripe charges, staff recruitment, redundancy costs, IT, office running costs, insurance etc) 
 
 31/12/2021 31/12/2020 
Support Staff Salaries €208,373 €181,463 
Governance €19,565 €22,871 
Overheads €105,479 €85,042 
Administration  €147,514 €91,630 
   
Total direct costs €480,932 €381,015 
 
Administration costs increased due a review and restructuring of staff in 2021. There were redundancy, recruitment 
and legal, and consultancy costs involved.   
 
Overhead costs were lower in 2020 as we had a rent free period. 
 
Salary costs were lower in 2020 due to the operation of Government Wages Subsidy Schemes.   
 
Management and Staff: 
The directors acknowledge with appreciation the committed work of our management team, our staff, and volunteers. 
Our continued success and achievements is due to their professionalism, dedication and commitment to our mission. 
 
At the 31st December 2021 the Irish Motor Neurone Disease Association employed an average of 15 staff members. 
 
Employees Remuneration for 2021 
 
The average number of full time employees in the year was 15 and the average number of part time employees was 
1.  
 
The employees were employed at the following activities and at the following salary bands at the year end.   
 
 2021 Number 2020 Number 
Fundraising 3 3 
Finance and Management 2 2 
Communications 2 2 
Client Services Support 4 3 
Nursing Staff 4 4 
 15 14 
   
 2021 Number 2020 Number 
€50,000 - €59,999 5 2 
€60,000 - €69,999 - - 
€70,000 - €79,999 1 1 
€80,000 - €89,999 - - 
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Reserves Policy 
The Board of the Irish Motor Neurone Disease Association has set a reserves policy which requires: 
 
-Reserves are being maintained at a level which ensures that The Irish Motor Neurone Disease's Association core 
activity could continue during a period of unforeseen difficulty. 
-A proportion of reserves are maintained in a readily releasable form. 
 
This takes into account: 
-Risks associated with income and expenditure being different from that budgeted. 
-Planned activity level and potential opportunities. 
-The organisation's contractual commitments. 
-The cost associated with potentially having to make staff redundant in an emergency situation. 
 
The level of reserves is kept under constant review through ongoing financial reporting and production of annual 
audited financial statements. 
 
In 2021 IMNDA is retaining sufficient cash reserves to expend: 
Research commitments   €100,000 
Working Capital Reserve €1,278,207 
Lease for seven years   €548,749 
Capital   €651,110 
 €2,578,066 
 
Payments of Creditors 
The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for ensuring compliance with the provisions of the European 
Communities (Late Payment in Commercial Transactions) Regulations 2012. It is the organisation’s policy to agree 
payment terms with all suppliers and to adhere to those payment terms. 
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Achievements and performance  
In 2021, the IMNDA provided services to 548 people across Ireland, a 4% decrease on 2020. There were 139 new 
registrations and very sadly we lost 177 clients to MND during 2021. 
 

County Male Female Total 

Carlow                          2                          1 3 

Cavan 7 11 18 

Clare 7 4 11 

Cork 36 24 60 

Donegal 11 11 22 

Dublin 86 60 146 

Galway 10 7 17 

Kerry 14 8 22 

Kildare 12 14 26 

Kilkenny 6 3 9 

Laois 6 3 9 

Leitrim 3 2 5 

Limerick 10 9 19 

Longford 3 3 6 

Louth 9 4 13 

Mayo 15 9 24 

Meath 20 8 20 

Monaghan 4 2 6 

Offaly 7 2 9 

Roscommon 4 4 8 

Sligo 6 4 10 

Tipperary 12 6 18 

Waterford 5 5 10 

Westmeath 10 4 14 

Wexford 12 9 21 

Wicklow 13 9 22 
 

 
Dedicated Nurse Service    
Continuity of care is crucial when it comes to managing a complex condition such as Motor Neurone Disease. Our 
MND specialist nurses are central to this service. They act as a link between our clients and families and community 
healthcare professionals, consultant neurologists and the services team in IMNDA. Four specialist nurses manage a 
full caseload of clients and families, provide direct support and advice, signpost to other services and liaise with GP 
and the specialist teams, when required. 
 
There is no one size fits all when it comes to MND so having our nurses out in the community, helping to co-ordinate 
care for our clients is paramount. 
 
Our nurses attend MND hospital clinics, liaise with healthcare professionals such as occupational therapists, 
physiotherapists and speech and language therapists and ensure palliative care supports are in place when needed. 
They help our clients and carers navigate their way through what is a very complex disease. 
 
Upon registering with the IMNDA a client will receive a first contact call from one of our nurses within seven working 
days and arrange a first home visit. This nurse will then be their main point of contact for the duration of their illness. 
Our nurses provided this serve to 548 clients during 2021. 
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With Covid still prevalent in 2021 joint working arrangements with the team at Beaumont, Cork and Galway 
continued successfully during the year.  Many home visits and hospital clinics were replaced with virtual and 
telephone consultations to protect patients and their families.  The IMNDA nurses played an integral role in 
maintaining contact with clients, both in person when possible and through virtual means. 
 
Nursing Service Highlights 2021 
Working remotely the IMNDA nurses provided support to 548 clients during the year.  They did this through 839 
home visits which was an increase of 112 on the previous year.  They further met with 479 patients as part of their 
multi-disciplinary work through clinics and engaged with clients virtually with 14,424 calls, emails, and other contacts. 
 
The IMNDA nursing team also attended 180 community MDT meetings (some of which were virtual) similar to 2020. 
These meetings allowed community healthcare professionals, IMNDA nurses and hospital clinicians to trouble shoot 
potential issues due to the fragmentation of care in the community as a result of many health care workers being 
seconded due to the pandemic. 
 
The number of virtual contacts with Health Care Professionals including occupational therapists, physiotherapists 
and public health nurses accessing IMNDA's nursing service via phone or emails amounted to 16,067 slightly down 
on the previous year of 16,783 but which indicated an accepted move to this mode of interaction. 
 
Specialised Equipment Service 
Ensuring people living with MND remain in their own homes for as long as possible is one of our main priorities. 
Therefore, having the right equipment, at the right time, is crucial. A powered wheelchair can give someone a new 
lease of life, allowing them to keep their independence. A communication aid allows them to still be part of the 
conversation. A stair lift means they can access their whole house and not be confined to one room or one floor. All 
simple things that most of us take for granted. 
 
As discussed above in 2021 the IMNDA spent €692,946 (2020: €649,823) on the provision, storage, distribution, 
cleaning and maintenance of specialised aids and appliances for our clients an increase of €43,122 on 2020. During 
the year 317 pieces of new equipment were purchased with Communication aids, Comfort chairs and Power 
Wheelchairs most requested by Occupational Therapists for clients. 
 
Communication aids continue to be a lifeline for many of our clients with 28 iPads and 70 other types of 
communication technology, including eye gaze equipment, voice recorders and amplifiers. We also bought 17 
powered wheelchairs ranging in cost from €8k to €16k per item and invested in 10 new motored exercise machines - 
to name but a few. 
 
Our direct expenditure on equipment in 2021 was €541,395 (2020: €348,586) for which we received €46,322 (2020 € 
14,160) restricted funding from the HSE. Therefore €495,075 (2020: €334,426) was raised directly through donations 
and fundraising. 
 
Home Care Service  
The IMNDA provides financial assistance towards extra home care hours when there is a shortfall in what is needed 
versus what the HSE can provide. This home care grant is awarded once our nurse has completed a needs 
assessment in a client's home. As discussed above in 2021 the IMNDA spent €382,413 (2020: €511,027) on Home 
Care Grants. We received €54,321 (2020: €29,300) restricted funding from the HSE for home care and the 
remaining €328,092 (2020: €481,727) was fundraised by our loyal donors and supporters. 
 
Counselling Service  
Finding ways to cope following the diagnosis of a terminal illness such as Motor Neurone Disease can be incredibly  
difficult. It has a huge impact on the entire family and can be a heavy weight to bare. Everyone will process the 
 diagnosis differently and at different stages of their journey. 
 
Having access to a qualified counsellor can often be the difference between coping and not coping. So, for  
those who do want to talk, the IMNDA provides funding towards counselling sessions for registered clients and one 
 family member. This funding includes bereavement counselling. 
 
The IMNDA spent €16,610 on counselling in 2021 (2020 €21,236). This service is funded solely through donations  
and fundraising activities. 
 
 
 

Patient Carer Weekend 
Every year we combine our AGM and conference with a very special Patient and Carer weekend away. This has 
proved to be very beneficial for both clients and families, as well as everyone in the IMNDA. 
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It gives families affected by MND a chance to spend time with other families who are on the same journey. It also 
gives them greater insights into the latest developments in MND and families hear of developments within the 
Association. 
 
From an organisational point of view, it provides us with a platform to connect with our service users on a deeper 
more personal level, which in turn helps us shape and improve our service offering. 
 
Unfortunately, for the second year we were not able to gather in 2021 as normal so our AGM and annual conference 
moved online and was hosted via zoom. The format remained the same and the conference was extremely well 
attended.  Of note, was the increased attendance by healthcare professionals who were facilitated in joining through 
the use of technology.  Moving forward, IMNDA plans to continue to make our annual conference available through 
this method as increased way of maintaining contact with the many healthcare professionals who have expressed an 
interest in attending in this way. 
 
Presentations on the day included an update on current national and international research by Professor Orla 
Hardiman, an overview on current research titled “People need to know they are not alone” by Dr Ailin O’Dea.  
Further presentations were made by professionals working in the area of MND on cognitive and behavioural changes 
in MND as well as update on developments with voice banking.   
 
A formal presentation of appreciation was made to those clients and families who went over and above in their 
contribution to the work of the Association during the year – an annual tradition at this key event. 
 
Research  
Recognising that today's research could be tomorrow's treatment and cures, the IMNDA continues to invest in key 
research projects, both nationally and internationally, on an annual basis. In 2021, we committed funds (€50k per 
annum) to Project Tricals over a further three-year period 2021-2023, a research and treatment project to cure 
ALS/MND. The aim of this project is to develop a precision medicine-based approach towards new treatments for 
MND. It is an exciting project which involves ALS/MND centres in Ireland, led by Professor Hardiman and her team, 
in Holland, the UK, France, Belgium, and Italy.  
 
The IMNDA also part funds a Research Fellow post in Trinity College Dublin €50k per annum with an Associate 
Professor in ALS/MND Research Methodology and Ethnography. 
 
As always, the ultimate aim of all projects funded through the IMNDA is to improve the lives of people living with MND 
and their families.  Our vision remains a world free of MND and the only way that this vision can be realised is 
through progress in MND research. We are only able to fund this research because of the money raised nationally by 
our loyal supporters. 
 
Looking to the Future 
Having completed an overall strategic review of the Association and its services the IMNDA launched its new five 
year strategic plan in 2021. 
 
Over the next five years, the Association aims to protect and maintain existing services and activities, while also 
expanding and developing in new directions to ensure people living with MND and their families continue to benefit  
from our work. 
 
Four key strategic priorities form the framework for this plan.   
1.Provide practical client and caregiver-centred support on both a national and local level to ensure people affected 
by MND receive the best possible standard of care. 
2.Strengthen communications with all key stakeholder groups, especially families directly affected by MND, and 
enhance public awareness of the impact of MND through advocacy. 
3.Support, fund and communicate research into causes, management, and treatment of MND amongst all key 
stakeholders including families affected by MND and the wider healthcare community.  
4.Invest in long term sustainable income streams in order to continue to operate a stable, transparent, and 
accountable organisation, meeting best practice standards amongst the charity sector in Ireland. 
 
During 2021 the Board and CEO engaged in an overall staffing structural review for the organisation in ensuring that  
it was adequately resourced to successfully implement the strategic plan over the coming years.  Specifically, the  
Board committed to: 
 
- The appointment of a Director of Nursing and Patient Services to oversee the nursing and patient services; 
 

- The appointment of a dedicated resource to develop the corporate fundraising strategy for the Association; 
- The development of the Communications team to strengthen the advocacy role in ensuring that patients’ needs 

are highlighted and met. 
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Corporate Governance: 
The board is committed to maintaining the highest standards of corporate governance and is determined that the 
company complies with the basic principles outlined in the Governance Code. 
 
During 2021 the Board engaged in a formal governance review process, identifying new skills required in 
establishing a formal succession plan.  Three new Director roles were identified to compliment the skills mix as well 
as replace Directors retiring over the next couple of years. 
 
The Board approved the establishment of a formal “clinical advisory group” to advise the Board on matters of clinical 
importance as well as provide the highest standard in clinical oversight in all of the Association’s work. 
 
Board members, all of whom are non-executive and independent, are drawn from diverse backgrounds and bring a 
broad range of experience and skills to the Board's deliberations. All new Board members participate in an induction 
programme shortly after appointment in order to familiarise themselves with their statutory responsibilities, their role 
as Board members and the governance framework of the Irish Motor Neurone Disease Association's vision, mission, 
and values. 
 
There are clear distinctions between the roles of the Board and the executive management team. The Board is 
responsible for providing leadership, setting overall strategy, and monitoring budgets and outcomes of the 
organisation. The Board is also responsible for identifying the risks affecting the organisation and ensuring 
procedures are in place to reduce and manage the major risks identified. The Board accepts it needs to work 
effectively, behave with integrity and be transparent and accountable. There are eight non-executive directors. The 
directors bring to the Board deliberations, their significant business and decision-making skills gained in their 
respective fields together with a broad range of experience and views. 
 
The day-to-day management is delegated to the Chief Executive. The Chief Executive prepares and presents 
policies, work plans and annual financial budgets and cash flows for consideration and approval to the Board. 
 
There is a schedule of matters reserved to the Board for decision making and a schedule of matters delegated to the 
Chief Executive. 
 
The company complies with the triple lock standard as set down by the Charities Institute of Ireland. 
•The Charities Institute of Ireland's Guiding Principles for Fundraising. 
•We are regulated by the Charities Regulator and the Board adopted CRA's Code of Governance 2020. Previously 
the Board were in compliance with the voluntary code of Governance. 
 
Transparency and Public Accountability: 
The Board believes that the Irish Motor Neurone Disease Association, and all charities, should be fully accountable 
to the general public, providing detailed information on where its funds come from and where they are spent. We 
have provided substantial information in the Directors' report for many years. We also publish our accounts on our 
website www.imnda.ie, under the About IMNDA section. 
 
Compliance with Sector-Wide Legislation and Standards 
The Companies Act 2014 
The Charities SORP (FRS 102) 
The Charities Governance Code  
 

 
Post Balance Sheet Events 
There have been no circumstances or events subsequent to the year end, which require adjustment to, or disclosure 
in the financial statements. 
 
Political contributions 
There were no political contributions during the year. Consequently, no disclosures are required under the Electoral 
Act 1997. 
 
Health and Safety 
It is the policy of the organisation to ensure the health and safety of its employees by maintaining a safe place and 
systems of work. This policy is based on the requirements of employment legalisation, including the Safety, Health, 
and Welfare at Work Act 2005. The policy is reviewed regularly. 
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Auditors 
The auditors, Crowleys DFK Unlimited Company, (Chartered Accountants and Statutory Audit Firm) have indicated 
their willingness to continue in office in accordance with the provisions of section 383(2) of the Companies Act 2014. 
 

   
Statement on Relevant Audit Information 
In accordance with section 330 of the Companies Act 2014, so far as each of the persons who are directors at the 
time this report is approved are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the statutory auditors are 
unaware. The directors have taken all steps that they ought to have taken to make themselves aware of any relevant 
audit information and they have established that the statutory auditors are aware of that information. 
 

   
   
Approved by the Board of Directors on ____________________ and signed on its behalf by: 
   
   
________________________________ ________________________________ 
Declan MacDaid Alison Gray 
Director Director 
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The directors are responsible for preparing the financial statements in accordance with applicable Irish law and 
regulations. 
   
Irish company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under the law the 
directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with the Companies Act 2014 and FRS 102 
"The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland" issued by the Financial Reporting 
Council. Under company law, the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that 
they give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, and financial position of the charity as at the financial year end 
date and of the net income or expenditure of the charity for the financial year and otherwise comply with the 
Companies Act 2014. 
 
In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to: 
- select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently; 
- observe the methods and principles in the Statement of Recommended Practice: Accounting and Reporting by 

Charities; 
- make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 
- state whether the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the relevant financial reporting 

framework, identify those standards, and note the effect and the reasons for any material departure from those 
standards; and 

- prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the charity 
will continue in operation. 

   
The directors confirm that they have complied with the above requirements in preparing the financial statements. 
   
The directors are responsible for ensuring that the charity keeps or causes to be kept adequate accounting records 
which correctly explain and record the transactions of the charity, enable at any time the assets, liabilities, financial 
position and net income or expenditure of the charity to be determined with reasonable accuracy, enable them to 
ensure that the financial statements and the Directors' Annual Report comply with Companies Act 2014 and enable 
the financial statements to be audited. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the charity and hence 
for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 
 

   
   
Approved by the Board of Directors on ____________________ and signed on its behalf by: 
   
   
________________________________ ________________________________ 
Declan MacDaid Alison Gray 
Director Director 
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Report on the audit of the financial statements 
  
Opinion 
We have audited the charity financial statements of The Motor Neurone Disease Association for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2021 which comprise the Statement of Financial Activities (incorporating an Income and 
Expenditure Account), the Balance Sheet, the Statement of Cash Flows, and the notes to the financial statements, 
including the summary of significant accounting policies set out in note 2. The financial reporting framework that has 
been applied in their preparation is Irish law and FRS 102 "The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK 
and Republic of Ireland" and Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice applicable 
to charities preparing their accounts in accordance with FRS 102. 
  
In our opinion the financial statements: 
- give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, and financial position of the charity as at 31 December 2021 and 

of its surplus for the financial year then ended; 
- have been properly prepared in accordance with FRS 102 "The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the 

UK and Republic of Ireland", as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2014 and having 
regard to the Charities SORP; and 

- have been properly prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2014. 
 

 
Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (Ireland) (ISAs (Ireland)) and 
applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are described below in the Auditor's responsibilities for the 
audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the charity in accordance with ethical 
requirements that are relevant to our audit of financial statements in Ireland, including the Ethical Standard for 
Auditors (Ireland) issued by the Irish Auditing and Accounting Supervisory Authority (IAASA), and the Provisions 
Available for Audits of Small Entities, in the circumstances set out in note 4 to the financial statements, and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence 
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 

 
Conclusions relating to going concern 
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors' use of the going concern basis of 
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. 
 
Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or 
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the charity's ability to continue as a going 
concern for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue. 
 
Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the 
relevant sections of this report. 
 

 
Other Information 
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in 
the annual report other than the financial statements and our Auditor's Report thereon. Our opinion on the financial 
statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we 
do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial statements, or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material 
misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a 
material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this 
regard. 
 

 
Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2014 
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, we report that: 
- the information given in the Directors' Annual Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are 

prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and 
- we have obtained all the information and explanations which, to the best of our knowledge and belief, are 

necessary for the purposes of our audit. 
 
In our opinion the accounting records of the charity were sufficient to permit the financial statements to be readily and 
properly audited and the financial statements are in agreement with the accounting records. 
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Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
Based on the knowledge and understanding of the charity and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we 
have not identified any material misstatements in the Directors' Annual Report. The Companies Act 2014 requires us 
to report to you if, in our opinion, the disclosures of directors' remuneration and transactions required by sections 305 
to 312 of the Act are not complied with by the company. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 

 
Respective responsibilities 
 
Responsibilities of directors for the financial statements 
As explained more fully in the Directors' Responsibilities Statement set out on page 17, the directors are responsible 
for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework that 
give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the charity's ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, if applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the charity or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 
 

 
Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an Auditor's Report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
ISAs (Ireland) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
 
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is contained in the appendix to this 
report, located at page 20, which is to be read as an integral part of our report. 
 

 
The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities 
Our report is made solely to the charity's members, as a body, in accordance with Section 391 of the Companies Act 
2014. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the charity's members those matters we are 
required to state to them in an Auditor's Report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we 
do not accept or assume any responsibility to anyone other than the charity and the charity's members, as a body, for 
our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 
 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Natalie Kelly 
for and on behalf of 
CROWLEYS DFK UNLIMITED COMPANY 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Audit Firm 
16/17 College Green 
Dublin 2 
 
............................... 
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Further information regarding the scope of our responsibilities as auditor 
 

  
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs (Ireland), we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 
 

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 
 

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
charity's internal control. 

 
 

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by directors. 

 
 

- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the charity's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our Auditor's Report to the related disclosures in the financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our Auditor's Report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
charity to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 
 

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and 
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 

 
 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit. 
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for the financial year ended 31 December 2021 
        
   Unrestricted Restricted Total  Total 
   Funds Funds    
   2021   2021   2021    2020   
 Notes  €   €   €    €   
  
        
Donations and legacies 5.1  1,554,971   90,402   1,645,373    1,131,698   
Charitable activities 5.2  555,552   424,724   980,276    1,078,852   
Other trading activities 5.3  18,235   -   18,235    33,115   
Investments 5.4  -   -   -    37,500   
Other income 5.5  4,250   -   4,250    -   
   ───────   ───────   ───────    ───────   
Total income   2,133,008   515,126   2,648,134    2,281,165   
   ───────   ───────   ───────    ───────   
 

Expenditure 
        
Raising funds 6.1  269,694   8,454   278,148    250,460   
Charitable activities 6.2  646,914   1,455,059   2,101,973    2,025,829   
   ───────   ───────   ───────    ───────   
Total Expenditure   916,608   1,463,513   2,380,121    2,276,289   
   ───────   ───────   ───────    ───────   
 

Net income/(expenditure)   1,216,400   (948,387) 268,013    4,876   
Transfers between funds   (948,905) 948,905   -    -   
     ───────   ───────   ───────      ───────   
 

Net movement in funds 
for the financial year 

  267,495   518   268,013    4,876   
 

        
Reconciliation of funds 
Balances brought forward at 
1 January 2021 

19  2,700,134   5,163   2,705,297    2,700,421   

   ───────   ───────   ───────    ───────   
Balances carried forward 
at 31 December 2021 

  2,967,629   5,681   2,973,310    2,705,297   

   ═══════   ═══════   ═══════    ═══════   
        
        
The Statement of Financial Activities includes all gains and losses recognised in the financial year. 
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   2021    2020   
  Notes €    €   
Fixed Assets 
Tangible assets  14 494,357    468,816   
   ───────    ───────   
      
Current Assets 
Debtors  15 102,490    123,778   
Cash at bank and in hand   2,578,066    2,416,499   
   ───────    ───────   
   2,680,556    2,540,277   
   ───────    ───────   
Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year  16 (201,603)  (259,087) 
   ───────    ───────   
Net Current Assets   2,478,953    2,281,190   
   ───────    ───────   
Total Assets less Current Liabilities   2,973,310    2,750,006   
      
Grants receivable  17 -    (44,709) 
   ───────    ───────   
Net Assets   2,973,310    2,705,297   
   ═══════    ═══════   
Funds 
Restricted funds   5,681    5,163   
General fund (unrestricted)   2,967,629    2,700,134   
   ───────    ───────   
Total funds  19 2,973,310    2,705,297   
   ═══════    ═══════   
 

      
      
Approved by the Board of Directors on ____________________ and signed on its behalf by: 
      
      
________________________________   ________________________________ 
Declan MacDaid   Alison Gray 
Director   Director 
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   23 

Cash flows from operating activities 
Net movement in funds  268,013   (32,624) 
Adjustments for: 
Depreciation  351,456   368,131   
Gains and losses on disposal of fixed assets  4,020   18,851   
  ───────   ───────   
  623,489   354,358   
Movements in working capital: 
Movement in debtors  21,288   (18,325) 
Movement in creditors  (57,484) 47,219   
  ───────   ───────   
Cash generated from operations  587,293   383,252   
  ───────   ───────   
 

Cash flows from investing activities 
Receipts from investments  -   37,500   
Payments to acquire tangible assets  (380,800) (231,366) 
Receipts from sales of tangible assets  (4,020) (18,851) 
Receipts from sales of tangible assets  3,803   18,853   
  ───────   ───────   
Net cash generated from investment activities  (381,017) (193,864) 
  ───────   ───────   
 

Cash flows from financing activities 
Grants receivable  (44,709) (64,346) 
  ───────   ───────   
    
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  161,567   125,042   
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 2021  2,416,499   2,291,457   
  ───────   ───────   
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 2021 23 2,578,066   2,416,499   
  ═══════   ═══════   
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION 
  
 The Motor Neurone Disease Association is a company limited by guarantee (registered under Part 18 of the 

Companies Act 2014) incorporated and registered in the Republic of Ireland (CRO Number: 112855). The 
registered office of the organisation is Unit 3 Ground Floor, Marshalsea Court, 22/23 Merchant's Quay, Dublin 
8, D08 C6XP which is also the principal place of business of the organisation. The financial statements have 
been presented in Euro (€) which is also the functional currency of the organisation. 

 

    
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
  
 The following accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items which are considered 

material in relation to the charity’s financial statements. 
  
 Basis of preparation 
 The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, modified to include certain 

items at fair value. The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Statement of 
Recommended Practice (SORP) "Accounting and Reporting by Charities preparing their accounts in 
accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland FRS 102". 
 
The charity has applied the Charities SORP on a voluntary basis as its application is not a requirement of the 
current regulations for charities registered in the Republic of Ireland. 
 
As permitted by the Companies Act 2014, the charity has varied the standard formats in that act for the 
Statement of Financial Activities and the Balance Sheet. Departures from the standard formats, as outlined in 
the Companies Act 2014, are to comply with the requirements of the Charities SORP and are in compliance 
with section 4.7, 10.6 and 15.2 of that SORP. 

  
 Fund accounting 
 The following are operated by the Charity: 
  
 Restricted funds 
 Restricted funds represent grants, donations and sponsorships received which can only be used for particular 

purposes specified by the donors or sponsorship programmes binding on the directors/trustees. Such 
purposes are within the overall aims of the charity. 

  
 Unrestricted funds 
 Unrestricted funds include general funds and designated funds, and it represents amounts which are 

expendable at the discretion of the Directors in furtherance of the objectives of the charity and which have not 
been designated for other purposes. Such funds may be held in order to finance working capital of capital 
expenditure. 
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 Income 
 All incoming resources are included in the Statement of Financial Activities when the charity is legally entitled 

to the income, the amount can be quantified with reasonable accuracy, and it is probable the income will be 
received. The following specific policies are applied to particular categories of income: 
 
- Voluntary income is received by way of grants, donations and gifts and is included in full in the Statement of 
Financial Activities when receivable. 
 
- Income from government and other grants, whether 'capital' or 'revenue grants, is recognised when the 
charity has entitlement to the funds, any performance conditions attached to the grants have been met, it is 
probable that the income will be received, and the amount can be measured reliably. Grants, where 
entitlement is not conditional on the delivery of a specific performance by the charity is recognised within 
income from donations and legacies. Grants, where related to performance and specific deliverables, are 
accounted for as the charity earns the right to consideration by its performance and included within income 
from charitable activities. 
 
- Donated services and facilities are included at the fair value to the charity where this can be quantified. 
Donations in kind are included at their estimated value to the association in both revenue and expenditure in 
the year of receipt. Donated facilities are included as both income and expenses at the value to the charity 
where this can be quantified, and a third party is bearing the cost. Where it is not practicable to measure the 
value of the resource with sufficient reliability the income is included in the financial period when the resource 
is sold. An asset is recognised only when those services are used for the production of an asset and the 
services received will be capitalised as part of the cost of an asset. Where it cannot be quantified the value is 
recognised when sold. The value of services provided by volunteers has not been included in these accounts. 
Resources received from non-exchange transactions for which the entity has benefited include: 
- Volunteer services 
 
- Revenue from the provision of services is recognised in the accounting period in which the services are 
rendered 
 
- Deferred income is released to the statement of financial activities over the expected useful life of the assets 
to which the grant is related. 

 

    

  
 Expenditure 
 Expenditure is recognised on an accruals basis as a liability is incurred. Expenditure includes any VAT which 

cannot be fully recovered, and is reported as part of the expenditure to which it relates: 
 
- Costs of raising funds comprise the costs associated with attracting voluntary income, and includes staff and 
related costs, costs of fundraising and an allocation of support and management costs. 
 
- Charitable expenditure comprises those costs incurred by the charity in the delivery of its activities and 
services for its beneficiaries. It includes both costs that can be allocated directly to such activities and those 
costs of an indirect nature necessary to support them. 
 
- Governance costs include those costs associated with meeting the constitutional and statutory requirements 
of the charity and include the audit fees, costs of legal advice for trustees and costs linked to the strategic 
management of the charity including the cost of trustee meetings. 
 
- All costs are allocated between the expenditure categories of the Statement of Financial Activities on a 
basis designed to reflect the use of the resource. Costs relating to a particular activity are allocated directly, 
others are apportioned on an appropriate basis. 
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 Employee Benefits 
 The organisation provides a range of benefits to employees, including annual discretionary Christmas 

bonuses, paid holiday arrangements and defined contribution pension plans. 
 
Short term benefits 
Short term benefits, including holiday pay and other similar non-monetary benefits, are recognised as an 
expense in the period in which the service is received. 
 
Defined contribution pension plans 
The organisation operates a defined contribution plan. A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under 
which the organisation pays fixed contributions into a separate fund. Under defined contribution plans, the 
organisation has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold 
sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior 
periods. 
 
For defined contribution plans, the organisation pays contributions to privately administered pension plans on 
a contractual or voluntary basis. The organisation has no further payment obligations once the contributions 
have been paid. The contributions are recognised as employee benefit expense when they are due. Prepaid 
contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future 
payments is available. 

 

    

  
 Tangible fixed assets and depreciation 
 Tangible fixed assets are recorded at historical cost or deemed cost, less accumulated depreciation (and 

impairment losses if applicable). Cost includes prime cost, overheads and interest incurred in financing the 
construction of tangible fixed assets. Capitalisation of interest ceases when the asset is brought into use. 
 
Medical Equipment 
All Equipment is capitalised at cost. It is the organisation’s policy to capitalise all items which have a unit cost 
greater than one thousand euros (€1,000). Items purchased with a value or cost less than one thousand 
euros (€1,000) will be expensed in the period purchased.  
 
Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost or at valuation, less accumulated depreciation. The charge to 
depreciation is calculated to write off the original cost or valuation of tangible fixed assets, less their estimated 
residual value, over their expected useful lives as follows: 

  
 Medical Equipment - 33.33% Straight line 
 Fixtures, fittings, and equipment - 20% Straight line 
 

    

  
 Debtors 
 Debtors are recognised initially at transaction price. Subsequently these are measured at amortised cost less 

any provision for impairment. A provision for impairment of trade receivables is established when there is 
objective evidence that the organisation will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original 
terms of receivables. The amount of the provision is the difference between the asset's carrying amount and 
the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate. All movements in 
the level of provision required are recognised in the statement of financial activities. 

  
 Creditors 
 Creditors are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less. If not, they are 

presented as non-current liabilities. Trade payables are recognised initially at the transaction price and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

  
 Cash and cash equivalents 
 Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, demand deposits and other short term highly liquid 

investments with original maturities of three months or less. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in 
current liabilities on the statement of financial position. 

 

    

  
 Taxation 
 No charge to current or deferred taxation arises as the charity has been granted charitable status under 

Sections 207 and 208 of the Taxes Consolidation Act 1997, Charily No CHY 8510. The charity is eligible 
under the "Scheme of Tax Relief for Donations lo Eligible Charities and Approved Bodies under Section 848A 
Taxes Consolidation Act, 1997" therefore income tax refunds arising from sponsorships exceeding €250 per 
annum are included in unrestricted funds. Irrecoverable value added tax is expended as incurred. 
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 Financial Instruments 
  
 Debt instruments (other than those wholly repayable or receivable within one year), including loans and other 

accounts receivable and payable, are initially measured at present value of the future cash flows and 
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Debt instruments that are payable or 
receivable within one year, typically debtors and creditors, are measured, initially and subsequently, at the 
undiscounted amount of the cash or other consideration expected to be paid or received. However, if the 
arrangements of a short-term instrument constitute a financing transaction, like the payment of a debt 
deferred beyond normal business terms or financed at a rate of interest that is not a market rate or in the 
case of an out-right short-term loan not at market rate, the financial asset or liability is measured, initially, at 
the present value of the future cash flow discounted at a market rate of interest for a similar debt instrument 
and subsequently at amortised cost. 
 
Financial assets that are measured at cost and amortised cost are assessed at the end of each reporting 
period for objective evidence of impairment. If objective evidence of impairment is found, an impairment loss 
is recognised in the Statement of Financial Activities. 
 
For financial assets measured at amortised cost, the impairment loss is measured as the difference between 
an asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated cash flows discounted at the asset's original 
effective interest rate. If a financial asset has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any 
impairment loss is the current effective interest rate determined under the contract. 
 
For financial assets measured at cost less impairment, the impairment loss is measured as the difference 
between an asset's carrying amount and best estimate of the recoverable amount, which is an approximation 
of the amount that the charity would receive for the asset if it were to be sold at the balance sheet date. 

 

  
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 
  
 The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and 

assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income, and 
expenses. 
 
Judgements and estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical experiences and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
 
Accounting for depreciation 
The organisation provides for depreciation on its tangible fixed assets. Tangible fixed assets are stated at 
cost or at valuation, less accumulated depreciation. The charge to depreciation is calculated to write off the 
original cost or valuation of tangible fixed assets, less their estimated residual value, over their expected 
useful lives. The trustees review on an on-going basis the charge to depreciation to ensure it is consistent 
with the expected residual value applicable to the different categories of tangibles. The total amount of assets 
subject to depreciation is €494,357 (2020: €468,816). 
 
Useful Lives of Tangible Fixed Assets 
Long-lived assets, consisting primarily of medical equipment, comprise a significant portion of the total 
assets. The annual depreciation charge depends primarily on the estimated useful economic lives of each 
type of asset and estimates of residual values. The directors regularly review these asset useful economic 
lives and change them as necessary to reflect current thinking on remaining lives in light of prospective 
economic utilisation and physical condition of the assets concerned. Changes in asset useful lives can have a 
significant impact on depreciation and amortisation charges for the period. Detail of the useful economic lives 
is included in the accounting policies. 
 
Going concern 
At the time of approving the financial statements, the directors have a reasonable expectation that the 
organisation has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Thus, 
the Charity continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the financial statements. 

 

  
4. PROVISIONS AVAILABLE FOR AUDITS OF SMALL ENTITIES 
  
 In common with many other charitable companies of our size and nature, we use our auditors to assist with 

the preparation of the financial statements and to prepare and submit returns to the Companies Registration 
Office. 
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5. INCOME 
5.1 DONATIONS AND LEGACIES Unrestricted Restricted 2021   2020   
  Funds Funds   
  €   €   €   €   
 

      
 Corporate Donations 142,144   -   142,144   143,170   
 General Donations 1,190,927   90,402   1,281,329   755,488   
 Wills & Bequests 221,900   -   221,900   233,040   
  ───────   ───────   ───────   ───────   
  1,554,971   90,402   1,645,373   1,131,698   
  ═══════   ═══════   ═══════   ═══════   
 

      
5.2 CHARITABLE ACTIVITIES Unrestricted Restricted 2021   2020   
  Funds Funds   
  €   €   €   €   
  
 HSE Income -   330,590   330,590   263,487   
 Fundraising Events 555,552   -   555,552   394,996   
 Pobal Stability Fund -   -   -   290,500   
 Government Subsidy Schemes -   54,600   54,600   126,869   
 Other Grants -   39,534   39,534   3,000   
  ───────   ───────   ───────   ───────   
  555,552   424,724   980,276   1,078,852   
  ═══════   ═══════   ═══════   ═══════   
 

      
5.3 OTHER TRADING ACTIVITIES Unrestricted Restricted 2021   2020   
  Funds Funds   
  €   €   €   €   
  
 Other trading activities 18,235   -   18,235   33,115   
  ═══════   ═══════   ═══════   ═══════   
 

      
5.4 INVESTMENTS Unrestricted Restricted 2021   2020   
  Funds Funds   
  €   €   €   €   
  
 Investments -   -   -   37,500   
  ═══════   ═══════   ═══════   ═══════   
  
 The total of the income derived by the charity relates from its activities in the Republic of Ireland. 
 

      
5.5 OTHER INCOME Unrestricted Restricted 2021   2020   
  Funds Funds   
  €   €   €   €   
  
 Other income 4,250   -   4,250   -   
  ═══════   ═══════   ═══════   ═══════   
 

       
6. EXPENDITURE 
6.1 RAISING FUNDS Direct Other Support 2021   2020   
  Costs Costs Costs   
  €   €   €   €   €   
  
 

 

Raising funds 163,640   -   114,508   278,148   250,460   
  ═══════   ═══════   ═══════   ═══════   ═══════   
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6.2 CHARITABLE ACTIVITIES Direct Other Support 2021   2020   
  Costs Costs Costs   
  €   €   €   €   €   
  
 Home Care 382,413   -   45,803   425,216   547,315   
 Specialist Medical Equipment 692,946   -   45,803   738,749   686,111   
 Client Support Costs 242,832   -   91,602   334,434   259,231   
 Research 101,441   -   -   101,441   100,000   
 Nursing Services 315,920   -   183,213   499,133   433,172   
  ───────   ───────   ───────   ───────   ───────   
  1,735,552   -   366,421   2,101,973   2,025,829   
  ═══════   ═══════   ═══════   ═══════   ═══════   
 

 

    
7. ANALYSIS OF SUPPORT COSTS 
  2021   2020   
  €   €   
  
 Support 480,929   381,015   
  ═══════   ═══════   
 

    
8. NET INCOME 2021   2020   
  €   €   
 Net Income is stated after charging/(crediting): 
 Depreciation of tangible assets 351,456   368,131   
 Auditor Renumeration 11,163   10,387   
  ═══════   ═══════   
 

    
9. EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION 
  
 Number of employees 
 The average number of full-time employees in the year was 15 and the average number of part time 

employees was 1. The number employees at the yearend was as follows: 
  
  2021   2020   
  Number Number 
  
 Fundraising 3   3   
 Finance & Management 2   2   
 Client Services Support 4   3   
 Nursing Staff 4   4   
 Communications 2   2   
  ───────   ───────   
  15   14   
  ═══════   ═══════   
  
 The staff costs comprise: 2021   2020   
  €   €   
  
 Wages and salaries 640,600   607,991   
 Redundancy costs 21,874              - 
 Social security costs 57,856   32,555   
 Pension costs 29,413   29,038   
  ───────   ───────   
  749,743   669,584   
  ═══════   ═══════   
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10. SALARY BANDS 
  
 There were 5 employees (2020: 3) whose total employee benefits (excluding employer PRSI and pension 

costs) at the year-end fell within the below categories 
  
  2021   2020   
  €   €   
  
 €50,000 - €60,000 5   2   
 €70,001 - €80,000 -   1   
  ───────   ───────   
  5   3   
  ═══════   ═══════   
  
 The highest salary was for the CEO. There was a change of CEO in the summer of 2021. Both CEO annual 

salaries were in the €70,000 - €80,000 range however neither earned more than €50,000 in 2021 due to the 
change of employment. The CEO receives a 5% contribution to pension, has the use of an organisation 
laptop and phone but receives no other benefits from the organisation. 
 
Employers contribution to employers PRSI vary depending on employee circumstances. 
 
All employees (including the CEO) receive a 5% contribution to pension. 
 
Travel and Subsistence rates for all staff (including the CEO) are as outlined by the Revenue Commissioners. 

 

    
11. KEY MANAGEMENT COMPENSATION 
  
 Key management includes the Board of Directors (Executive and non-executive) and all members of the 

Management. The compensation paid or payable to key management for employee services is shown below: 
  
  2021   2020   
  €   €   
  
 Salaries and other short term benefits 226,811   214,115   
  ═══════   ═══════   
  
 The above related to several employees, whose work is primarily client facing. No employees were 

remunerated over €55,000. 
 

    
12. RETIREMENT BENEFITS 
  
 The organisation operates a PRSA scheme for the benefit of its employees. Contributions payable are 

charged to the income and expenditure account as the expenditure is incurred. 
  
  2021   2020   
  €   €   
  
 Retirement benefits 29,413   29,038   
  ═══════   ═══════   
 

    
13. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  
  
 Our Directors are Charity Trustees and as such may not profit from carrying out their duties as a Charity 

Trustee. They do not receive a salary specifically for acting as a Charity Trustee or receive other benefits. 
However, they may be reimbursed for reasonable expenses, which they incurred directly in carrying out their 
duties. 
 
In 2021, expenses paid to directors was €Nil (2020: €Nil). 
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14. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 
  Medical Fixtures, Total 
  Equipment fittings and  
   equipment  
  €   €   €   
 Cost 
 At 1 January 2021 2,143,335   86,034   2,229,369   
 Additions 375,846   4,954   380,800   
 Disposals (173,760) -   (173,760) 
  ───────   ───────   ───────   
 At 31 December 2021 2,345,421   90,988   2,436,409   
  ───────   ───────   ───────   
 Depreciation 
 At 1 January 2021 1,690,353   70,200   1,760,553   
 Charge for the financial year 345,868   5,588   351,456   
 On disposals (169,957) -   (169,957) 
  ───────   ───────   ───────   
 At 31 December 2021 1,866,264   75,788   1,942,052   
  ───────   ───────   ───────   
 Net book value 
 At 31 December 2021 479,157   15,200   494,357   
  ═══════   ═══════   ═══════   
 At 31 December 2020 452,982   15,834   468,816   
  ═══════   ═══════   ═══════   
 

    
15. DEBTORS 2021   2020   
  €   €   
  
 Other debtors 26,112   26,112   
 Taxation and social security costs 32,466   22,414   
 Prepayments 43,912   40,952   
 Accrued Income -   34,300   
  ───────   ───────   
  102,490   123,778   
  ═══════   ═══════   
 

    
16. CREDITORS 2021   2020   
 Amounts falling due within one year €   €   
  
 Trade creditors 98,285   115,650   
 Taxation and social security costs 36,020   15,552   
 Other creditors 1,166   14,406   
 Accruals 10,084   7,476   
 Deferred Income 56,048   106,003   
  ───────   ───────   
  201,603   259,087   
  ═══════   ═══════   
  
 The Motor Neurone Disease Association is compliant with the relevant tax circulars including circular 44/2006 

"Tax Clearance Procedures, Grants, Subsidies and Similar Payments". 
 

    
17. DEFERRED INCOME 2021   2020   
  €   €   
 Within One Year 
 Deferred Income 54,255 80,980 
    
 After One Year   
 At 1 January 2021 44,709   109,055   
 Decrease in financial year (44,709) (64,346) 
  ───────   ───────   
 At 31 December 2021 -   44,709   
  ═══════   ═══════   
  

The above relates to income generated from the 2018 Walk While You Can Campaign. The purpose of these 
funds are for the employment of additional nursing staff. The organisation is expecting to release the 
reminder for the income in 2022. 
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18. RESERVES 
    
  2021   2020   
  €   €   
  
 At 1 January 2021 2,705,297   2,700,421   
 Surplus for the financial year 268,013   4,876   
  ───────   ───────   
 At 31 December 2021 2,973,310   2,705,297   
  ═══════   ═══════   
 

     
19. FUNDS 
19.1 RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENT IN FUNDS Unrestricted Restricted Total 
  Funds Funds Funds 
  €   €   €   
  
 At 1 January 2020 2,700,421   -   2,700,421   
 Movement during the financial year (287) 5,163   4,876   
  ───────   ───────   ───────   
 At 31 December 2020 2,700,134   5,163   2,705,297   
 Movement during the financial year 267,495   518   268,013   
  ───────   ───────   ───────   
 At 31 December 2021 2,967,629   5,681   2,973,310   
  ═══════   ═══════   ═══════   
 

       
19.2 ANALYSIS OF MOVEMENTS ON FUNDS 
  Balance Income Expenditure Transfers Balance 
  1 January   between 31 December   
  2021   funds 2021   
  €   €   €   €   €   
 Restricted funds 
 Restricted 5,163   515,126   1,463,513   948,905   5,681   
  ───────   ───────   ───────   ───────   ───────   
 Unrestricted funds 
 Unrestricted General 2,700,134   2,133,008   916,608   (948,905) 2,967,629   
  ───────   ───────   ───────   ───────   ───────   
 Total funds 2,705,297   2,648,134   2,380,121   -   2,973,310   
  ═══════   ═══════   ═══════   ═══════   ═══════   
 

      
19.3 ANALYSIS OF NET ASSETS BY FUND 
  Fixed Current Current Total 
  assets assets liabilities  
  - charity use    
  €   €   €   €   
 Restricted trust funds -   5,681   -   5,681   
  ───────   ───────   ───────   ───────   
  
 Unrestricted general funds 494,357   2,674,875   (201,603) 2,967,629   
  ───────   ───────   ───────   ───────   
  494,357   2,680,556   (201,603) 2,973,310   
  ═══════   ═══════   ═══════   ═══════   
 

  
20. STATUS 
  
 The liability of the members is limited. 

 
Every member of the organisation undertakes to contribute to the assets of the organisation in the event of its 
being wound up while they are members, or within one year thereafter, for the payment of the debts and 
liabilities of the organisation contracted before they ceased to be members, and the costs, charges, and 
expenses of winding up, and for the adjustment of the rights of the contributors among themselves, such 
amount as may be required, not exceeding €2. 
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21. GOVERNMENT GRANTS 
  
 In accordance with Department of Public Expenditure and Reform Circular 13/2014, the following details the 

core grants of the organisation applicable to 2021. 
 
Income from government grants comprise of: 
Grants made by the HSE (see breakdown below) a to fund the provision of specific charity services to those 
with motor neurone disease. The amount of such grants received in the year amounted to €330,590 (2020: 
€519,527). Amounts due at the year-end were €Nil (2020: €34,300). Amounts deferred at the year-end were 
€1,793 (2020: €Nil) 

 

        
 Agency Type Restricted Grant Approved SoFA Received 2021 Due / Deferred 
 HSE Revenue Yes 214,037 214,037 214,037 - 
 HSE Other Yes 16,000 16,000 16,000 - 
 HSE Lottery/Respite Yes 54,231 54,231 54,231 - 
 HSE Lottery/Equipment Yes 46,322 45,529 46,322 1,793 
    ───────   ───────   ───────  ───────  
    330,590 328,797 330,590    1,793 
    ═══════   ═══════   ═══════  ═══════  
        
 Year ended 31 December 2020     
 Agency Type Restricted Grant Approved SoFA Received 2020 Due / Deferred 
 HSE Revenue Yes 214,037 214,037 214,037           - 
 HSE Community Yes 5,990 5,990 5,990           - 
 HSE Lottery/Respite Yes 29,300 29,300 5,000      24,300 
 HSE Lottery/Equipment Yes 14,160 14,160 4,160       10,000 
 Pobal Stability Fund Yes 290,500 290,500 290,500 - 
    ───────   ───────   ───────  ───────  
    553,987 553,987 519,527    34,300 
    ═══════   ═══════   ═══════  ═══════  
        
 The above 2021 grants were rewarded by the following HSE funding locations:  
   
 Agency Type  CHO   Amount 
 HSE Revenue  CHO09   214,037 
 HSE Lottery/Respite  CHO01   9,231 
 HSE Lottery/Respite  CHO02   10,000 
 HSE Lottery/Respite  CHO05   6,000 
 HSE Lottery/Respite  CHO06   5,000 
 HSE Lottery/Respite  CHO07   13,000 
 HSE Lottery/Respite  CHO08   11,000 
 HSE Lottery/Equipment  CHO01   1,000 
 HSE Lottery/Equipment  CHO02   15,840 
 HSE Lottery/Equipment  CHO05   4,000 
 HSE Lottery/Equipment  CHO06   5,000 
 HSE Lottery/Equipment  CHO07   6,000 
 HSE Lottery/Equipment  CHO08   8,500 
 HSE Lottery/Equipment  CHO09   5,982 
 HSE Other     16,000 
       ───────  
          330,590 
       ═══════  
        
 

    
22. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES   
    
 The organisation had no material contingent liabilities for the year ended 31 December 2021. 
    
23. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2021   2020   
  €   €   
  
 Cash and bank balances 2,578,066   2,416,499   
  ═══════   ═══════   
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24. POST-BALANCE SHEET EVENTS 
  
 There have been no circumstances or events subsequent to the year end, which require adjustment to, or 

disclosure in the financial statements. 
 

    
25. FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS 
  
 At the end of 2021, the organisation occupies Unit 3, Ground Floor, Marshalsea Court, 22/23 Merchant’s 

Quay, Dublin 8. The Lease costs are €78,392 per-annum. The organisation operated under a 10 year lease 
term which commenced in January 2020. This lease has a no break clause and a 5-year cap on the rental 
amount. 

  
  2021   2020   
  €   €   
  
 Payable within one year 78,393   78,393   
 Payable within two to five years 313,571   313,571   
 Payable after five years 235,179   313,571   
  ───────   ───────   
  627,143   705,535   
  ═══════   ═══════   
 

    
26. CONTRIBUTION TO UNPAID VOLUNTEERS 
  
 The Trustees are very grateful to the unpaid dedicated volunteers who are vital to the IMNDA’s on-going 

work. Approximately 200 members of the public give their time to assist our fundraising work in all areas 
including campaigns, events, and administration. Volunteers generously act as Ambassadors representing 
the IMNDA at various community fundraising events across the country as well as at our own annual calendar 
of events such as walks and collections which could not go ahead without these committed cohort of helpers. 
 
The IMNDA acknowledges with immense gratitude, the hard work, dedication, care, and attention given by 
our supporters. 

 

  
27. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
  
 The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 

................................ 
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The Motor Neurone Disease Association 

The supplementary information does not form part of the audited financial statements    36 

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION RELATING TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Income and Expenditure 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2021 
     
     
Income   2021 2020 
   € € 
Government Grants and Revenue Refunds     
HSE Community Grant   - 5,990 
HSE Lottery Equipment Grant   46,332 14,160 
HSE Lottery Respite Grant        54,231      29,300  
Restricted Grant Income- other   16,000 - 
HSE S39 Grant   6,185 6,185 
HSE Grant in Aid   207,852 207,852 
HSF Grant   - 3,000 
Government Subsidy    54,600 126,869 
Pobal Stability Fund   - 290,500 
Tax Relief and VAT Compensation Scheme   5,843 22,407 
   ─────── ─────── 
Public and Statutory Funding   391,033 706,263 
     
     
Donations and Fundraising     
Restricted Corporate Donations   - 2,941    
Restricted Nurse Fund Donations   922 1,285 
Direct Mail Nurse Campaign   3,881 3,936 
Restricted Personal Donations   9,670 7,200 
Drink Tea for MND   206,932 254,328 
A Long Shot                     - 257 
Unrestricted Charity of the Year Income   3,084 17,895 
Corporate Events   8,008 10,211 
Unrestricted Corporate Donations   131,052 112,123 
Memory Donations   170,761 84,022 
Wedding Favours   2,752 200 
Church Gate Collections   -    14,806  
Collection Boxes    723   1,375  
Membership Income   220 170 
Individual Donations - Standing Orders   26,293 24,507 
Individual Donations - Once Off   208,464 205,279 
Benefit Nights   201 32,345 
Raffles   4,244 - 
Sponsored Silence   156,686 31,098 
Easter Egg Raffle   490 18,056 
Grand Raffle   - 20 
Christmas Fundraising   14,871 28,487 
Merchandise Sales   792 3,166 
Nurses   - 1,262 
Other Fundraising Events   153,898 102,776 
Dublin Marathon   1,544 8,226 
Women's Mini Marathon   10,846 10,659 
Cycling Events   94,136 31,849 
Boxing fundraisers   3,435 - 
Walk While You Can   146,775 82,468 
Abseiling Fundraisers   44,669 8,769 
Golf Classics   74,045 7,435 
Skydive   17,478 4,809 
Other Active Events   403,000 131,112 
RTE Does Comic Relief    14,534 - 
Arthur Cox – The Loretto Dempsey Placement   25,000 - 
Wills & Bequests   221,900 233,040 
   ─────── ─────── 
Fundraised Incomes   2,178,365 1,476,111 
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SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION RELATING TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Income and Expenditure 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2021 
    continued 
     
   2021 2020 
   € € 
Non Cash Incomes     
Donations -in-Kind   - 360 
   ─────── ─────── 
Non Cash Incomes   - 360 
     
     
Income deferred from previous years     
WWYC Deferred Income   74,488 60,931 
   ─────── ─────── 
Income deferred from previous years   74,488 60,931 
     
     
Other Incomes     
Investment Income   - 37,500 
Other Income   4,250 - 
   ─────── ─────── 
Other Incomes   4,250    37,500    
     
   ─────── ─────── 
Total Income   2,648,136 2,281,165 
   ═══════   ═══════   
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SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION RELATING TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Income and Expenditure 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2021 
    continued 
     
   2021   2020   
   €   €   
 

 
 
 

Client Service Costs   
Home Help Grant 382,412 511,028 
Client Wellbeing (counselling) 16,610 21,236 
Annual Memorial Service 4,894 2,201 
Other Services Costs 1,659 4,588 
COVID19 Support Costs 316 2,933 
CEO Compassionate Fund 7,329 10,046 
Community Hub 4,674 - 
Medical Equipment Purchases under €1,000 165,549 117,220 
Medical Equipment Purchases over €1,000 depreciation  345,867 363,772 
Medical Equipment Storage & Transport 43,629 40,739 
Medical Equipment Costs 133,880 109,243 
Loss on disposal of Medical Equipment 4,020 18,851 
 ─────── ─────── 
 1,110,839 1,201,857 
   
Fundraising Costs   
Research Costs 101,441 100,000 
Fundraising Materials 5,546 709 
Fundraising Advertising        37        1,264 
Fundraising Printing - 552 
Fundraising & PR Misc. Costs 545 6,856 
Direct Mail Costs 165 - 
General Community Fund Raising Costs 418 431 
Campaigns Costs - General 2,184 9,403 
Drink Tea Costs 19,340 17,076 
Sponsored Silence Costs 3,980 111 
Memory Tree Costs 1,358 - 
Easter Egg Raffle - 8,034 
Walk While You Can costs 1,856 374 
Abseiling costs 5,355 36 
Women's Mini Marathon - - 
A Long Shot 836 1,383 
Campaign Costs - 400 
Individual Giving Costs - 19 
Corporate Fundraising Costs 3,625 667 
Merchandise Costs (for Resale) - - 
Wedding Favours Costs          -          401 
Memorial Website 624 - 
Legacy Costs 4,350 - 
Christmas Card Costs 4,396 40 
 ─────── ─────── 
 158,671 147,756 
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SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION RELATING TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Income and Expenditure 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2021 
    continued 
     
   2021   2020   
   €   €   
Pay Costs     
Gross salaries   640,598 607,991 
Employer's NI/PRSI contributions   57,855 32,555 
Employer’s Pension contributions   29,412 29,038 
Redundancy Payments   21,876 - 
   ─────── ─────── 
   749,741 669,584 
     
Non-Pay Costs     
Newsletter Costs   31,613 - 
Website Costs   1,485 780 
Other information Costs         12,238        2,337 
Nurse Service - Travel & Meeting Costs    3,010  2,811  
Nurse Service - Motor Car Expenses    18,306   16,601  
Nurse Service - Car Lease rentals    36,575   30,428  
Nurse Service - Mobile Phone Costs    3,453   3,668  
Nurse Service - Other Costs    2,537   598  
Service Support - Travel & Meeting Costs   110  326  
Service Support - Other Costs    861   -  
Staff Recruitment costs   13,990 - 
Training   2,725 395 
Health and Safety    955 - 
Staff Support Costs   6,594 678 
Travel & Subsistence   538 1,330 
Revenue approved staff development costs   7,013   6,615  
Conference - Symposium    752   546  
Post & Courier    4,460   8,255  
Stationery    2,670   3,107  
Sundry Office Expenses    13,019   6,286  
Printing    2,833   1,408  
AGM Expenses    99   2,506  
Office Equipment   - - 
Computer/Software Running Costs    3,071   2,059  
Telephone Charges    8,059   6,865  
Rent & Service Charge    93,583   73,818  
Cost of moving premises   - 19,811 
Electricity    3,837 2,388 
Bank Charges    4,459   4,879  
Credit Card machine rentals    498  - 
Charges for donation website    36,527   14,053  
Currency (Gain)\Loss    -     -    
Audit/Accountancy Fees    11,163   10,387  
IT Support & Maintenance    3,646   5,524  
Other Professional Fees    9,050   9,977  
Professional Fees Redundancies     2,175  -  
Legal Fees    554  -  
Insurance    5,744   4,143  
Subscriptions    7,079   10,154  
Miscellaneous Expenditure    -     -    
Depreciation On Fixed Assets    5,589   4,359  
     
   ─────── ─────── 
   360,870 257,092 
     
   ─────── ─────── 
Total Costs   2,380,121 2,276,289 
   ═══════   ═══════   
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